FILED Apr 04, 2016 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

NO. 33873-8-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TYRONE CHRISTOPHER BELLE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

The Honorable John O. Cooney, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LISA E. TABBUT Attorney for Appellant P. O. Box 1319 Winthrop, WA 98862 (509) 996-3959

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The state did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Tyrone Belle committed the crime of attempting to elude a police vehicle because there was insufficient evidence to support the allegation he drove in a reckless manner after knowingly being signaled to stop.
- 2. The trial court erred when it ordered Mr. Belle to pay a \$100 DNA collection fee.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Whether the evidence is sufficient to prove Tyrone Belle committed the crime of attempting to elude a police vehicle when he did not drive recklessly after knowingly being signaled to stop?
- 2. Whether the mandatory \$100 DNA collection fee authorized under RCW 43.43.7541 violates substantive due process when applied to defendants who do not have the ability, or likely ability, to pay the fee?
- 3. Whether the mandatory \$100 collection fee authorized under RCW 43.43.7541 violates equal protection when applied to defendants who have previously provided a sample and paid the \$100 DNA collection fee?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

The Spokane County prosecutor charged Tyrone Belle by amended information with Attempting to Elude a Police Vehicle¹ and Violation of an Ignition Interlock Requirement.² CP 2-3. The amended information specifically alleged Mr. Belle's eluding threatened harm or physical injury to one or more persons other than himself or the pursuing police officer.³ CP 2. The jury found Mr. Belle guilty as charged and answered "yes" to the special allegation. RP⁴ 286; CP 5-7.

2. <u>Trial evidence</u>

Spokane Police Officer Seth Killian was monitoring traffic in a residential neighborhood where there had been complaints of speeding and reckless drivers. RP 113, 118. The speed limit in the neighborhood was 25 miles per hour. RP 120. Motorists commonly drove through the neighborhood to avoid a congested intersection. RP 119-20. It was March 11, 2015. RP 120. The sun was shining and families were outside in the nice weather. RP 120-21. People were working in their yards and children were riding their bikes. RP 120-21.

¹ RCW 46.61.024

² RCW 46.20.740

³ RCW 9.94A.834

⁴ There are two consecutively numbered volumes of verbatim report of proceedings ("RP") for this appeal.

Officer Killian was wearing his uniform and driving a marked patrol car equipped with overhead red and blue lights and a siren. RP 121, 133. He had just finished a traffic stop when he heard and saw a dually pickup "flying" around a corner with its exhaust and tires squealing. RP 122. Officer Killian was facing the truck as it headed in his direction. RP RP 122-23. He flashed his overhead lights to signal the truck to slow down and to put the driver on notice that law enforcement was watching. RP 125. The truck did not slow down. RP 124. Officer Killian pulled over to let it pass. RP 123. It passed him at an estimated 50 miles per hour. RP 160. Officer Killian got a "good look" at the driver. RP 129. He described the residential street as tight with vehicles parked on both sides. RP 118.

Office Killian decided to follow the truck which, by then, had slid around another corner to another residential street and was out of his view. RP 125-26. To turn his car in the other direction, Officer Killian had to drive up onto a sidewalk. RP 125. Now headed in the right direction and ready to follow the truck, Officer Killian turned on his overhead lights and blipped his siren several times to alert people in the neighborhood to move out of his way. RP 126-27.

Once around the corner and on the same street as the truck, Officer Killian accelerated to catch up. RP 125. He did not testify that he could see the truck ahead of him or testify to how fast he drove to catch up to the

truck. RP 125-27. At one point, he briefly switched his siren to automatic mode. RP 127.

Officer Killian next saw the truck as it was pulling to the right side of the road as if to stop. RP 127. Officer Killian was able to read the truck's license plate. RP 127. He called off the pursuit. He thought it was too dangerous. He also thought with the license plate and the visual observation of the driver, he could find the truck and the driver. RP 127-28. Rather than coming to a full stop, the truck accelerated, skidded around another corner, and drove away. RP 127.

Officer Killian drove to the address of the truck's registered owner, Irene Nieves. RP 131. After speaking to Ms. Nieves, he used his patrol car's computer to look up "DOL photos and mugshots" for Mr. Belle. RP 131. He identified Mr. Belle in a booking photo. RP 132-33. A review of Mr. Belle's Department of Licensing record showed he had to drive vehicles equipped with an ignition interlock device. RP 135.

Officer Killian found the truck parked at Ms. Nieves's mother's home. RP 134. He looked in the truck's windows and saw no ignition interlock device. RP 135. He requested a warrant for Mr. Belle's arrest. RP 134.

Officer Killian was the state's only witness. RP 113-209. Mr. Belle did not testify. RP 232.

3. <u>Sentencing</u>

Mr. Belle agreed to his criminal history. CP 8-9. On the attempting to elude conviction, the court imposed one day on the substantive charge plus the 12-month special enhancement for a 12 month-plus-1-day sentence. RP 296; CP 14. The court imposed all 364 days on the misdemeanor ignition interlock conviction but suspended the sentence for two years. RP 297; CP 26.

The court found Mr. Belle indigent and imposed only mandatory legal financial obligations (LFOs): a \$500 victim assessment and a \$200 criminal filing fee. RP 297; CP 16, 17. The court also imposed a \$100 DNA collection fee. RP 297; CP 17. Mr. Belle did not object. RP 291-301.

Mr. Belle appeals all portions of both judgments and sentences. CP 30-54.

D. ARGUMENT

1. The state did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Belle committed attempting to elude a police vehicle.

The state failed to meet its burden of proof. The evidence did not establish Mr. Belle drove recklessly after he was knowingly signaled to stop. His attempting to elude conviction must be reversed and dismissed.

The Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause requires the state prove each essential element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable

doubt. *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed. 2d 435 (2000); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed. 2d 368 (1970). Evidence is sufficient only if, reviewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, a rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L Ed.2d 560 (1979).

A claim of insufficient evidence admits the truth of the state's evidence and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn therefrom. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence are equally reliable. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

The "to convict" instruction for the attempting to elude required the state to prove Mr. Belle, on March 11, 2015:

- (1) drove a motor vehicle;
- (2) was signaled to stop by a uniformed police officer by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren;
- (3) the signaling police officer's vehicle was equipped with lights and sirens;
- (4) willfully fled or refused to immediately bring the vehicle to a stop after being signaled to stop;
- (5) and, while attempting to elude, drove his vehicle in a manner indicating a reckless manner.

Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers, Court's Instructions to the Jury (sub. nom. 31), Instruction 6.

Three essential elements of the crime "must occur in sequence." State v. Stayton, 39 Wn. App. 46, 49, 691 P.2d 596 (1984); accord Seth A. Fine & Douglas J. Ende, 13 Wash. Prac., Criminal Law With Sentencing Forms § 2204 (2013-14 ed.). First, a uniformed police officer with a vehicle equipped with lights and sirens must give a signal to a driver to bring the vehicle to a stop. Second, the driver must willfully fail to immediately stop. Finally, the driver must drive his vehicle in a reckless manner while attempting to elude the pursuing police vehicle. RCW 46.61.024(1); See Stayton, 39 Wn. App. at 49-50 (interpreting prior version of RCW 46.61.924(1)). The state failed to present sufficient evidence both that the three elements occurred and that they occurred in the required sequence. On this record there was insufficient evidence Mr. Belle willfully failed to stop and only thereafter drove recklessly to elude Officer Killian.

Officer Killian testified his initial flashing of lights at the truck was only to alert the driver of police presence and to slow down. RP 122. It was not a signal for the truck's driver, after skidding around the corner of the residential street, to stop. The truck flashed past Officer Killian at 50 miles per hour. RP 160. Officer Killian's focus at that moment was to see

the driver, not signal the truck to stop. RP 124. The truck passed Officer Killian, who was facing the opposite direction, and immediately turned onto another residential street. RP 125. Officer Killian was not, at that moment, signaling the truck's driver to stop.

There can be no attempt to elude unless there is the prerequisite knowledge there is a pursuing police vehicle. *Stayton*, 39 Wn. App. 49. In other words, the driver must know he is being signaled to stop. *State v. Flora*, 160 Wn. App. 549, 555, 249 P.3d 188 (2011). When the truck made the turn, Officer Killian's only signal to the truck was to slow down.

To turn himself around to follow the truck, Officer Killian had to drive up on a sidewalk, back down off of the sidewalk, get back on the road, and safely turn to follow the truck. RP 125. In the meantime, the truck is moving away from Officer Killian down another residential street. Officer Killian is not behind the truck.

As Officer Killian safely approached the turn, he blipped his siren a couple of times, not to signal the truck to stop, but to be cautious and to alert the neighborhood to his presence. RP 126-27. Although Officer Killian accelerated to an unspecified speed to catch up to the truck, and momentarily turned his siren on to full audible mode, he did not testify to seeing the truck – and the nature of its driving – again until reaching the end of the block. RP 127.

When Officer Killian saw the truck - and the truck's driver could see Officer Killian's lighted patrol car - the truck was slowly rolling to a stop on the right side of the road and Officer Killian could see the truck's license plate. RP 127. Arguably, at this moment, the truck's driver was signaled to stop by the patrol car's overhead lights. But Officer Killian had the truck's license plate and had decided to no longer pursuing the truck. RP 128. There was nothing for the truck's driver to elude.

On this record, the state failed to prove the required three-step sequence of proof necessary for the attempting to elude conviction. Because the state failed to meet its burden, reversal and dismissal of the prosecution is required. *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 103, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). The prohibition against double jeopardy forbids retrial after a conviction is reversed for insufficient evidence. *State v. Anderson*, 96 Wn.2d 739, 742, 638 P.2d 1205 (1982).

2. RCW 43.43.7541 violates substantive due process and is unconstitutional as applied to defendants who do not have the ability or likely future ability to pay the mandatory \$100 DNA collection fee.

Both the Washington and United States Constitutions mandate that no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. U.S. Const. Amends V, XIV; Wash. Const. Art. I § 3. "The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment confers both procedural and

substantive protections." *Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals*, 158 Wn.2d 208, 216, 143 P.3d 571 (2006).

"Substantive due process protects against arbitrary and capricious government action even when the decision to take action is pursuant to constitutionally adequate procedures." *Amunrud*, 158 Wn.2d at 218-19. It requires that "deprivations of life, liberty, or property be substantively reasonable;" in other words, such deprivations are constitutionally infirm if not "supported by some legitimate justification." *Nielsen v. Washington State Dep't of Licensing*, 177 Wn. App. 45, 52-53, 309 P.3d 1221 (2013) (citing Russell W. Galloway, Jr., *Basic Substantive Due Process Analysis*, 26 U.S.F. L. Rev. 625, 625-26 (1992)).

Where a fundamental right is not at issue, as is the case here, the rational basis standard applies. *Nielsen*, 177 Wn. App. at 53-54.

To survive rational basis scrutiny, the state must show its regulation is rationally related to a legitimate state interest. *Nielsen*, 177 Wn. App. at 53-54. Although the burden on the state is lighter under this standard, the standard is not meaningless. The United States Supreme Court has cautioned the rational basis test "is not a toothless one." *Mathews v. DeCastro*, 429 U.S. 181, 185, 97 S.Ct. 431, 50 L.Ed.2d 9 (1976). As the Washington Supreme Court has explained, "the court's role is to assure that even under the deferential standard of review the

challenged legislation is constitutional." *DeYoung v. Providence Med. Ctr.*, 136 Wn.2d 136, 144, 960 P.2d 919 (1998) (determining that statute at issue did not survive rational basis scrutiny); *Nielsen*, 177 Wn. App. at 61 (same). Statutes that do not rationally relate to a legitimate state interest must be struck down as unconstitutional under the substantive due process clause. *Id*.

Here, the statute mandates all felony offenders pay the DNA collection fee. RCW 43.43.7541.⁵ This ostensibly serves the state's interest to fund the collection, analysis, and retention of a convicted offender's DNA profile to help facilitate criminal identification. RCW 43.43.752; RCW 43.43.7541. This is a legitimate interest. But imposing this mandatory fee upon defendants who cannot pay the fee does not rationally serve that interest.

It is unreasonable to require sentencing courts to impose the DNA collection fee upon all felony defendants regardless of whether they have the ability to or likely future ability to pay. The blanket requirement does

.

⁵ Every sentence imposed for a crime specified in RCW 43.43.754 must include a fee of one hundred dollars. The fee is a court-ordered legal financial obligation as defined in RCW 9.94A.030 and other applicable law. For a sentence imposed under chapter 9.94A.RCW, the fee is payable by the offender after payment of all other legal financial obligations included in the sentence has been completed. For all other sentences, the fee is payable by the offender in the same manner as other assessments imposed. The clerk of the court shall transmit eighty percent of the fee collected to the state treasurer for deposit in the state DNA database account created under RCW 43.43.7532, and shall transmit twenty percent of the fee collected to the agency responsible for collection of a biological sample from the offender as required under RCW 43.43.754.

not further the state's interest in funding DNA collection and preservation. As the Washington Supreme Court frankly recognized, "the state cannot collect money from defendants who cannot pay." *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 837, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). When applied to indigent defendants, the mandatory fee orders are pointless. It is irrational for the state to mandate trial courts impose this debt upon defendants who cannot pay.

In response, the state may argue that the \$100 DNA collection fee is such a small amount that the defendant would likely be able to pay. The problem with this argument, however, is this fee does not stand alone.

The Legislature expressly directs that the fee is "payable by the offender after payment of other legal financial obligations included in the sentence." RCW 43.43.7541. Thus, the fee is paid only after restitution, the victim's compensation assessment, and all other LFOs have been satisfied. As such, the statute makes this the least likely fee to be paid by an indigent defendant.

Additionally, the defendant will be saddled with a 12% interest rate on his unpaid DNA collection fee, making the actual debt incurred even more onerous in ways that reach far beyond his financial situation. Imposing mounting debt upon people who cannot pay works against another important state interest – reducing recidivism. See *Blazina*, 182

Wn.2d at 837 (discussing the cascading effect of LFOs with an accompanying 12% interest rate and examining the detrimental impact to rehabilitation that comes with ordering fees that cannot be paid).

When applied to defendants who do not have the ability or likely ability to pay, the mandatory imposition of the DNA collection fee does not rationally relate to the state's interest in finding the collection, testing, and retention of an individual defendant's DNA. Thus, RCW 43.43.7541 violates substantive due process as applied. Based on Belle's indigent status, the order to pay the \$100 DNA-collection fee should be vacated.

3. RCW 43.43.7541 violates equal protection because it irrationally requires some defendants to pay a DNA collection fee multiple times, while others need only pay once.

The equal protection clauses of the state and federal constitutions require that persons similarly situated with respect to the legitimate purpose of the law receive like treatment. U.S. Const. Amend XIV; Wash. Const., Art I § 12; *Bush v. Gore*, 531 U.S. 98, 104-05, 121 S. Ct. 525, 148 L. Ed. 2d 388 (2000). A valid law administered in a manner that unjustly discriminates between similarly situated persons, violates equal protection. *State v. Gaines*, 121 Wn. App. 687, 704, 90 P.3d 1095 (2004) (citations omitted).

Before an equal protection analysis may be applied, a defendant must establish he is similarly situated with other affected persons. *Gaines*, 121 Wn. App. at 704. Here, the relevant group is all defendants subject to the mandatory DNA collection fee under RCW 43.43.7541. Having been convicted of a felony, Mr. Belle is similarly situated to other affected persons within the afflicted group. See RCW 43.43.754; RCW 43.43.7541.

On review, where neither a suspect/semi-suspect class nor a fundamental right is at issue, a rational basis analysis is used to evaluate the validity of the differential treatment. *State v. Bryan*, 145 Wn. App. 353, 358, 185 P.3d 1230 (2008). That standard applies here.

Under rational basis scrutiny, a legislative enactment that creates different classes will survive an equal protection challenge only if: (1) reasonable grounds distinguish between different classes of affected individuals; and (2) the classification has a rational relationship to the proper purpose of the legislation. *DeYoung*, 136 Wn.2d. at 144. Where a statute fails to meet these standards, it must be struck down as unconstitutional. *Id*.

The Legislature has declared that collection of DNA samples and their retention in a DNA database are important tools in "assist[ing] federal, state, and local criminal justice and law enforcement agencies in both the identification and detection of individuals in criminal investigations and the identification and location of missing and unidentified persons." Laws of 2008 c 97, Preamble. The DNA profile from a convicted offender's biological sample is entered into the Washington State Patrol's DNA identification system (database) and retained until expunged or no longer qualified to be retained. WAC 446-75-010; WAC 446-75-060. Every sentence imposed for a felony crime must include a mandatory fee of \$100. RCW 43.43.754; RCW 43.43.7541.

The purpose of RCW 43.43.754 is to fund the collection, analysis and retention of an individual felony offender's identifying DNA profile to include in a database of DNA records. Once a defendant's DNA is collected, tested, and entered in the database, subsequent collections are unnecessary. This is because DNA – for identification purposes – does not change. The statute itself recognizes this, expressly stating it is unnecessary to collect more than one sample. RCW 43.43.754(2). There is no further need for a biological sample to be collected regarding defendants who have already had their DNA profiles entered into the database.

Here, RCW 43.43.7541 does not apply equally to all felony defendants because those who are sentenced more than once have to pay the fee multiple times. This classification is unreasonable because multiple

payments are not rationally related to the legitimate purpose of the law, which is to fund the collection, analysis, and retention of an individual offender's identifying DNA profile.

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