33873-8-III

FILED JUN 03, 2016 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

TYRONE BELLE, APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF SPOKANE COUNTY

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Prosecuting Attorney

Larry Steinmetz Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

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

Here, at the time of the incident, the officer was in uniform and driving a patrol vehicle equipped with emergency lights and siren. The officer initially flashed his emergency lights to warn the driver of the pickup to slow down. After nearly striking the patrol car, the officer again activated his emergency lights, turned his vehicle around, and accelerated toward the pickup. The defendant's vehicle then slid as it negotiated the turn at Magnolia. The officer gave several short bursts from his siren and air horn,

signaling the defendant to stop. Within a short period of time, the officer turned on his siren. He briefly turned the siren off to communicate with police radio. As the officer approached the defendant with emergency lights activated, the defendant stared at the officer through the vehicle mirror, broke traction with the pickup tires, slid around the corner at the intersection of Everett Avenue and sped away.

Driving with utter disregard for the rules of the road, including driving double the speed limit through residential streets, sliding through three different intersections, spinning the vehicle tires in an effort to speed away from the officer, nearly striking other vehicles, with adults and children within the vicinity of the roadway during the incident individually and collectively show the defendant knew of and disregarded a substantial risk that a wrongful act may occur.

The defendant argues that because the officer did not continuously activate his siren, the State did not establish that the defendant had knowledge there was a pursuing police vehicle. *See* Appellant's Br. at 8.

It is disingenuous to argue the defendant had no knowledge the officer was pursuing him. Indeed, the officer initially activated his emergency lights when he observed the defendant slide the pickup around an intersection, and he and another driver had to take evasive action by pulling their vehicles to the side of the road to avoid being struck by the

defendant as he sped past both vehicles over double the speed limit⁶ in broad daylight in a residential neighborhood.

Contrary to the defendant's argument, an officer in pursuit does not have to continuously activate the siren to constitute an attempt to elude. The signal given by the officer may be by hand, voice, emergency light, *or* siren. RCW 46.61.024 (emphasis added).

Lastly, the defendant's premise that he did not know he was being pursued is refuted by the facts; a jury certainly could find he had knowledge of the pursuit when he taunted the officer by momentarily stopping, watching the officer approach with emergency lights activated, and subsequently spun the tires, and immediately left the area at a high rate of speed. At that point in time, the defendant willfully failed to *immediately* bring his vehicle to a stop, and, as beforehand, continued to drive in a manner indicating a wanton and willful disregard for the lives or property of others while attempting to elude police after being signaled to stop by a uniformed officer.

The State presented substantial evidence that the defendant attempted to elude the officer.

12

⁶ See State v. Malone, 106 Wn.2d 607, 611, 724 P.2d 364 (1986) (noting that legislature enacted the eluding statute to address the dangers of high-speed chases).

B. THE DEFENDANT FAILED TO PRESERVE ANY LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATION (LFO) ISSUE FOR APPEAL; THE DNA COLLECTION FEE IMPOSED IN HIS CASE IS A MANDATORY FINANCIAL OBLIGATION.

The defendant received \$800 in mandatory LFOs. The \$500 crime victim assessment, \$100 DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) collection fee, and \$200 criminal filing fee, are mandatory legal financial obligations, each required irrespective of the defendant's ability to pay. CP 16-17. *State v. Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. 96, 102, 308 P.3d 755 (2013). The \$500 victim assessment is mandated by RCW 7.68.035; the \$100 DNA collection fee is mandated by RCW 43.43.7541; and the \$200 criminal filing fee is mandated by RCW 36.18.020(2)(h). In this case, the sole assignment of error is that the trial court erred by assessing the mandatory DNA fee.

The defendant failed to object to the imposition of the DNA fee, and failed to argue that he could not pay the fee. He raised no argument suggesting that the mandatory collection fee violated either the due process clause or equal protection guarantees. Therefore, he failed preserve the matter for appeal. RAP 2.5.

Moreover, the defendant fails to cite or discuss this Court's recent decisions on this issue. *See*, *State v. Stoddard*, 192 Wn. App. 222, 366 P.3d 474 (2016), *State v. Thornton*, 188 Wn. App. 371, 353 P.3d 642 (2015). As in *Thornton*, the defendant here fails to provide facts from the record

establishing that he has paid or has been ordered to pay for the DNA fee in prior cases.⁷ As in *Stoddard*, the issue here regarding due process was not raised, preserved, or developed in the trial court with supporting facts that would enable this Court to properly review the claim:

We consider whether the record on appeal is sufficient to review [the defendant's] constitutional arguments. [The defendant's] contentions assume his poverty. Nevertheless, the record contains no information, other than [The defendant's] statutory indigence for purposes of hiring an attorney, that he lacks funds to pay a \$100 fee. The cost of a criminal charge's defense exponentially exceeds \$100. Therefore, one may be able to afford payment of \$100, but not afford defense counsel. [The defendant] has presented no evidence of his assets, income, or debts. Thus, the record lacks the details important in resolving Stoddard's due process argument.

[The defendant] underscores that other mandatory fees must be paid first and interest will accrue on the \$100

Ms. Thornton provides no facts to support her new argument on appeal suggesting a sample was already collected and submitted to the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory under the prior cause number. *See Bulzomi v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 72 Wn. App. 522, 525, 864 P.2d 996 (1994) (party seeking review has burden of perfecting record so reviewing court has all relevant evidence before it; insufficient record on appeal precludes review of the alleged errors). Ms. Thornton thus makes no showing that RCW 43.43.754(2) even applies to her case, much less to support an argument that it precludes collection of the \$100 DNA fee as a mandatory LFO.

State v. Thornton, 188 Wn. App. at 374.

⁷ In *Thornton*, this Court determined:

DNA collection fee. This emphasis helps [the defendant] little, since we still lack evidence of his income and assets.

Stoddard, 192 Wn. App. at 228-29.

This Court should not accept review of the due process or equal protection claim based upon an undeveloped record.

Importantly, the defendant neither cites to RAP 2.5 nor offers an argument on appeal suggesting the alleged error is reviewable when no objection was made supporting the claim at the trial court level. It is a fundamental principle of appellate jurisprudence in Washington and in the federal system that a party may not assert on appeal a claim that was not first raised at trial. *State v. Strine*, 176 Wn.2d 742, 749, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013). This principle is embodied federally in Fed. R. Crim P. 51 and 52, and in Washington under RAP 2.5. RAP 2.5 is principled as it "affords the trial court an opportunity to rule correctly upon a matter before it can be presented on appeal." *Strine*, 176 Wn.2d at 749 (quoting *New Meadows Holding Co. v. Wash. Water Power Co.*, 102 Wn.2d 495, 498, 687 P.2d 212 (1984)). This rule supports a basic sense of fairness, perhaps best expressed in *Strine*, where the Court noted the rule requiring objections helps prevent abuse of the appellate process:

[I]t serves the goal of judicial economy by enabling trial courts to correct mistakes and thereby obviate the needless expense of appellate review and further trials, facilitates appellate review by ensuring that a complete record of the

issues will be available, ensures that attorneys will act in good faith by discouraging them from "riding the verdict" by purposefully refraining from objecting and saving the issue for appeal in the event of an adverse verdict, and prevents adversarial unfairness by ensuring that the prevailing party is not deprived of victory by claimed errors that he had no opportunity to address.

BENNETT L. GERSHMAN, TRIAL ERROR AND MISCONDUCT § 6–2(b), at 472–73 (2d ed. 2007) (footnotes omitted).

Strine, 176 Wn.2d at 749-50.

Therefore, policy and RAP 2.5 favor not allowing review of this DNA fee issue. *See, e.g., State v. Lazcano*, 188 Wn. App. 338, 360, 354 P.3d 233 (2015), *review denied*, 185 Wn.2d 1008 (2016):

The general rule remains that a criminal defendant may not obtain a new trial whenever he or she can identify a constitutional error not litigated below. *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d at 687, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). The manifest error exception is a narrow one. *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d at 687, 757 P.2d 492.

Lazcano, 188 Wn. App. at 360.

There is nothing manifest, i.e., so obvious, self-evident, axiomatic, indisputable, plain, clear, perspicuous, distinct, or palpable, appearing from the record provided as to warrant appellate review of the trial court's

imposition of the mandatory \$100 DNA fee, a fee that is required by statute.⁸

C. THE DNA FEE IMPOSITION STATUTE, RCW 43.43.7541. DOES NOT VIOLATE THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE

The DNA fee imposition statute, RCW 43.43.7541, mandates the imposition of a fee of one hundred dollars for every felony sentence. The defendant impliedly *admits* - as this Court has held⁹ - that this statute serves a legitimate purpose, because it "[o]stensibly serves the state's interest to fund

Every sentence imposed for a crime specified in RCW 43.43.754 must include a fee of one hundred dollars. The fee is a court-ordered legal financial obligation as defined in RCW 9.94A.030 and other applicable law. For a sentence imposed under chapter 9.94A RCW, the fee is payable by the offender after payment of all other legal financial obligations included in the sentence has been completed. For all other sentences, the fee is payable by the offender in the same manner as other assessments imposed. The clerk of the court shall transmit eighty percent of the fee collected to the state treasurer for deposit in the state DNA database account created under RCW 43.43.7532, and shall transmit twenty percent of the fee collected to the agency responsible for collection of a biological sample from the offender as required under RCW 43.43.754.

The statute also furthers the purpose of funding for the state DNA database and agencies that collect samples and does not conflict with DNA sample collection and submission provisions of RCW 43.43.754(1) and (2). The court thus properly imposed the DNA collection fee under RCW 43.43.7541 for Ms. Thornton's felony drug conviction.

⁸ RCW 43.43.7541 provides:

⁹ In State v. Thornton, 188 Wn. App. at 375, this Court stated:

the collection, analysis, and retention of a convicted offender's DNA profile to help facilitate criminal identification. RCW 43.43.752-.7541." Appellant's Br. at 11. However, the defendant then claims this statute violates the substantive due process clause because "[w]hen applied to defendants who do not have the ability or likely ability to pay, the mandatory imposition of the DNA collection fee does not rationally relate to the state's interest in finding the collection, testing, and retention of an individual defendant's DNA." Appellant's Br. at 13.

As above, the conclusion that the defendant cannot pay the \$100 DNA fee is not supported by the record and it is assumed by the defendant. Moreover, the defendant's argument that due process is violated - after admitting there is a rational basis for the mandatory DNA fee - is not an argument supported by citation to authority. The authority on this issue supports the opposite conclusion. It should be noted that monetary assessments that are mandatory may be imposed on indigent offenders at the time of sentencing without raising constitutional concern because ""[c]onstitutional principles will be implicated ... only if the government seeks to enforce collection of the assessments at a time when [the defendant is] unable, through no fault of his own, to comply," and ""[i]t is at the point of enforced collection..., where an indigent may be faced with the alternatives of payment or imprisonment, that he may assert a constitutional

objection on the ground of his indigency." *State v. Blank*, 131 Wn.2d 230, 241, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997) (most alterations in original) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *State v. Curry*, 118 Wn.2d 911, 917, 829 P.2d 166 (1992)); *and see State v. Thompson*, 153 Wn. App. 325, 336–38, 223 P.3d 1165 (2009) (DNA fee); *State v. Williams*, 65 Wn. App. 456, 460–61, 828 P.2d 1158, 840 P.2d 902 (1992) (victim penalty assessment).

D. RCW 43.43.7541 DOES NOT VIOLATE EQUAL PROTECTION.

Initially, defendant's equal protection claim is based on his assertion that "[h]ere, RCW 43.43.7541 does not apply equally to all felony defendants because those who are sentenced more than once have to pay the fee multiple times." Appellant's Br. at 15. "[H]aving been convicted of a felony, Mr. Belle is similarly situated to other affected persons within the afflicted group. *See* RCW 43.43.754; RCW 43.43.7541." Appellant's Br. at 14.

However, Defendant has not established that he paid or has been ordered to pay the DNA fee more than once. He speculates that a fee was already imposed in prior cases because of his convictions for several prior felony offenses. Appellant Br. at 11. However, this speculation does not establish a fact. *See Bulzomi v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 72 Wn. App. 522, 525, 864 P.2d 996 (1994) (party seeking review has burden of perfecting record so reviewing court has all relevant evidence before it; insufficient record on appeal precludes review of the alleged errors).

Secondly, the defendant's argument "misses the mark." *Thornton*, 188 Wn. App. at 374. In *Thornton*, this Court noted that the statute requires the imposition of the DNA fee in *every* qualifying case:

The language in RCW 43.43.7541 that "[e]very sentence imposed for a crime specified in RCW 43.43.754 must include a fee of one hundred dollars" plainly and unambiguously provides that the \$100 DNA database fee is mandatory for all such sentences. See State ex rel. Billington v. Sinclair, 28 Wn.2d 575, 581, 183 P.2d 813 (1947) (word "must" is generally regarded as making a provision mandatory); see also State v. Kuster, 175 Wn. App. 420, 424, 306 P.3d 1022 (2013) (DNA collection fee is mandated by RCW 43.43.7541). The statute also furthers the purpose of funding for the state DNA database and agencies that collect samples and does not conflict with DNA sample collection and submission provisions of RCW 43.43.754(1) and (2). The court thus properly imposed the DNA collection fee under RCW 43.43.7541 for Ms. Thornton's felony drug conviction.

Thornton, 188 Wn. App. at 374-375.

All defendants sentenced for felonies receive the DNA assessment as part of their sentencing. Nothing is more equal than that.

E. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ORDERED THE DEFENDANT TO SUBMIT TO A COLLECTION OF HIS DNA WITH THE PROVISO THAT THE ORDER DID NOT APPLY IF THE STATE PATROL ALREADY HAS A SAMPLE OF THE DEFENDANT'S DNA.

The defendant was provisionally required to submit to a DNA collection. That order is contained at page 9, provision 4.4, of the Felony Judgment and Sentence. CP 18. That "order" contains the proviso that this

DNA requirement "does not apply if it is established that the Washington State Patrol crime laboratory already has a sample from the defendant for a qualifying offense." This follows the statutory scheme set forth in RCW 43.43.754, where, under subsection (1) "a biological sample must be collected for purposes of DNA identification analysis from [a qualifying offender]"; then, under subsection (2), "[i]f the Washington State Patrol crime laboratory already has a DNA sample from an individual for a qualifying offense, a subsequent submission is not required to be submitted."¹⁰

The order follows the operation of the statute. There is no abuse of discretion in the trial court ordering that which is required by law.

 $^{^{10}}$ Again, this issue was settled by this Court in its recent decision in *Thornton, supra*:

The statute also furthers the purpose of funding for the state DNA database and agencies that collect samples and does not conflict with DNA sample collection and submission provisions of RCW 43.43.754(1) and (2). The court thus properly imposed the DNA collection fee under RCW 43.43.7541 for Ms. Thornton's felony drug conviction. *Thornton*, 188 Wn. App. at 375.

V. CONCLUSION

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